
 
May 13, 2021 
 
Serena Viswanathan 
Acting Associate Director, Division of Advertising Practices 
Bureau of Consumer Protection 
Federal Trade Commission 
600 Pennsylvania Avenue N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20580 
 
VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL AND U.S. POSTAL SERVICE 
 

Re:  Complaint requesting action to enjoin the dissemination of false or deceptive 
advertising by L.A. Baby 

 
Dear Acting Associate Director Viswanathan: 
 
The attached complaint is submitted by Richman Law & Policy on behalf of the nonprofit 
organization Clean & Healthy New York. On behalf of this organization, we write to request that 
the Federal Trade Commission investigate and take action to enjoin Amwan, Inc. d/b/a L.A. Baby 
Co. (“L.A. Baby”) from making false and misleading claims about the company’s business 
practices.  
 
Specifically, L.A. Baby makes numerous representations, implications, and overstatements that 
lead consumers to believe that it is producing unqualifiedly non-toxic, safe, and organic baby 
products. In fact, at least some products produced by L.A. Baby contain undisclosed chemicals 
with known or suspected long-term effects on human health and the environment. As set forth in 
the complaint, L.A. Baby is egregiously misleading consumers with these representations, and 
they have profited from consumers that purchase its products while relying on such representations. 
 
Claims regarding L.A. Baby’s products are both material and likely to mislead consumers. As the 
attached complaint explains in detail, L.A. Baby’s representations amount to unlawful consumer 
deception in violation of the FTC Act. We ask the Commission to engage in oversight and 
enforcement to assist consumers in avoiding this deceptive marketing that seeks to unlawfully 
influence their purchasing behavior. 
 
We appreciate your prompt attention to this matter and are available to assist your office in 
investigating L.A. Baby. 
 

Very Truly Yours, 

    
________________________ 
Kim E. Richman 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Clean and Healthy New York, Inc. (“Petitioner”) submits this complaint requesting that 

the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) investigate false and misleading representations made by 

Amwan, Inc. d/b/a L.A. Baby Co. (“L.A. Baby”), relating to the use of purportedly nontoxic, 

unqualifiedly safe and/or organic materials in its products. Consumers regularly rely on these 

material misrepresentations, which directly affect their decisions to purchase L.A. Baby’s 

products. 

Members of the public have grown increasingly aware of the effects of harmful chemicals 

such as petrochemical-based foams, plastics, and flame retardants that studies show are harmful to 

human health and the environment for a variety of reasons.1 As a result, parents are more closely 

examining the products they purchase for their children. In order to make educated and informed 

decisions, parents rely on statements made by companies about the relative toxicity of their 

products.  

L.A. Baby is aware that consumers are seeking high-end products for their children that 

are safe, high-quality, and pose little or no adverse impact on the environment. Consumers are 

willing to spend a greater amount of money for these traits, and L.A. Baby has capitalized on this 

growing consumer base without collecting or providing the necessary evidence that its products 

are as safe as the company claims. In reality, L.A. Baby’s representations overstate the health and 

environmental benefits conferred by its mattresses.  

 
1 Flame Retardants, National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (July 2016), 

https://www.niehs.nih.gov/health/materials/flame_retardants_508.pdf. 
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L.A. Baby says on its website that “No toxic materials are used in the making of any L.A. 

Baby product.”2 The company lacks the necessary evidence to substantiate this claim, as testing of 

products by the Ecology Center in collaboration with Clean & Healthy New York has shown that 

an L.A. Baby product contained many substances not considered non-toxic. L.A. Baby also depicts 

its products as free of certain chemical fire retardants, a claim which the Ecology Center’s testing 

has disproven unequivocally. Similarly, many products contain the phrase “naturally organic” on 

their packaging and marketing materials, giving the false impression that all of the materials used 

to make the mattresses are “natural” or “organic.”  

L.A. Baby also makes additional general statements about the contents of all its mattresses, 

stating that the mattresses “could” contain USDA certified organic cotton and other high-quality 

materials. There is no reasonable way for consumers to determine whether or not a given mattress 

actually contains these materials without scrutinizing each individual product page. Even then, 

some product webpages contain representations that the cotton used is organic, but L.A. Baby fails 

to identify which, if any, part of the mattress that is made with that cotton. This puts an undue 

burden on consumers to determine exactly which materials a given product contains.  

L.A. Baby also displays claims about its mattresses in the same visual form and location 

as official certifications, giving the impression that each claim is independently tested and that the 

products are certified by third-parties to have qualities such as “dust mite proof” and 

“antimicrobial.”3 L.A. Baby does not have independent, formal certifications to ensure that these 

claims are true. 

 
2 FAQ, L.A. Baby, https://www.lababyco.com/qa (last visited May 13, 2021). 
3 Triple Zone 2 in 1 Soy Foam with Blended Organic Cotton Cover, L.A. Baby, 

https://www.lababyco.com/products/item/292 (last visited May 13, 2021). 
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In short, L.A. Baby is greatly overstating the health and environmental benefits that its 

products can provide. By deceiving consumers about the nature and quality of its products, L.A. 

Baby is able to capture the growing market of consumers who are concerned about chemicals in 

everyday products that are potentially harmful, or whose long-term effects are not properly 

understood. L.A. Baby’s false and misleading representations and omissions are carefully crafted 

to cause reasonable consumers to believe that their products do not contain these chemicals, or that 

the products have been tested and certified to be unqualifiedly safe. These representations and 

omissions are both material and likely to mislead consumers.  

In light of the foregoing, Petitioner requests that the FTC investigate L.A. Baby’s claims, 

described in detail below, and take appropriate action to enjoin the company from continuing to 

make misleading claims about the organic and non-toxic nature of its products.  

I. INTRODUCTION 

Pursuant to Sections 2.1 and 2.2 of the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC” or 

“Commission”) regulations, 16 C.F.R. §§ 2.1 & 2.2, Petitioner hereby requests that the 

Commission investigate and commence an enforcement action against L.A. Baby for engaging in 

false or misleading advertising or marketing in violation of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 41 et seq. (“FTC Act”). 

As detailed below, L.A. Baby unlawfully makes false and/or misleading representations 

and omissions about the non-toxic nature, composition, and qualities of its crib mattresses, 

including that L.A. Baby does not use toxic flame retardants. However, one of L.A. Baby’s 

products tested in 2019, the Triple Zero 2 in 1 Crib Mattress, tested positive for the flame retardants 

that the company claims not to use.  
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L.A. Baby knows that consumers increasingly and consciously seek out products from 

environmentally responsible companies that sell products that cause no long-term health or 

environmental effects. Accordingly, L.A. Baby cultivates an image of creating unqualifiedly non-

toxic and environmentally friendly products, when testing has revealed that L.A. Baby’s 

representations overstate the truth. Furthermore, L.A. Baby labels its products with a plethora of 

awards, certifications, and emblems, a few of which do not belong to any particular certification 

program or organization. 

These representations are in violation of the Green Guides, as well as other rules 

established by the FTC. In fact, FTC Commissioner Rohit Chopra recently emphasized a renewed 

commitment to combat “greenwashing,” which plays a key role in allowing companies like L.A. 

Baby to profit off of consumer desire for safer and more environmentally friendly products without 

delivering them.4 In the spirit of that statement, we respectfully request that the Commission 

“exercis[e] its full authority to protect consumers and honest businesses” and take prompt action 

to hold L.A. Baby accountable for deceiving consumers with claims that falsely portray the 

company’s products as “non-toxic,” organic, and unqualifiedly safe for humans and the 

environment.5  

II. PARTIES 

a. Clean & Healthy New York  

 
4  FTC, Statement of Commissioner Rohit Chopra, In re Truly Organic, No. 1923077 (Sept. 19, 2019), 

https://www.ftc.gov/system/files/documents/public_statements/1544655/commisisoner_rohit_chopra_statement_on_
truly_organic_sept_19_2019.pdf. 

5 Id. 
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Clean and Healthy New York, Inc. (“Clean & Healthy New York”) is a 501(c)(3) not-for- 

profit, public-interest organization whose mission is to build a just and healthy society in which 

toxic chemicals are unthinkable. Their work changes laws, shifts markets, and empowers people 

to advance innovative solutions and create a sustainable economy. Founded in 2006, Clean & 

Healthy New York seeks to expose brands that are misleading consumers with natural or organic 

claims that cannot be backed up by independent testing. Since its inception, Clean & Healthy New 

York has made multiple notable accomplishments such as winning county- and state-level 

restrictions on bisphenol A in baby bottles and sippy cups, successfully advocating for a bill to 

prohibit the use of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) from food packaging to be passed 

in the New York State legislature and signed into law, and creating a fund for the NYS Pollution 

Prevention Institute. 6  Clean & Healthy New York coordinates the “Getting Ready for Baby 

Campaign.” The Getting Ready for Baby campaign is a joint effort of over 100 organizations 

working to ensure all products made and sold for babies and young children in the US are made 

free from harmful chemicals that can disrupt healthy development and contribute to diseases and 

disorders. Research into the materials present in crib mattresses was conducted through this 

campaign, in collaboration with other campaign partners, particularly the Ecology Center, which 

has in-house chemical screening capabilities and works with independent laboratories. Clean & 

Healthy New York also provides necessary educational information for consumers, so they are 

informed when making decisions that affect themselves and their children. 

b. L.A. Baby  

 
6 New York State Pollution Prevention Institute, Rochester Institute of Technology, 

https://www.rit.edu/affiliate/nysp2i/ (last visited May 13, 2021). 
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Amwan, Inc. d/b/a L.A. Baby Co. is a California corporation that produces, markets, and sells 

baby products, including crib mattresses, under the “L.A. Baby” brand. The company has been in 

operation since 1945 and has been selling products under the L.A. Baby brand since 1995 to 

consumers all throughout the United States, as well as various other countries across the world.7 

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW  

The FTC is the primary federal agency charged with thwarting unfair and deceptive trade 

practices.8 Under Section 5 of the FTC Act, unlawful deception will be found “if there is a 

representation, omission or practice that is likely to mislead the consumer acting reasonably in the 

circumstances, to the consumer’s detriment.”9 A representation is thus unlawfully deceptive if it 

is (1) material to a consumer’s decision-making and (2) likely to mislead the consumer.10 

To ensure that their advertisements are not deceptive, marketers must identify all express 

and implied claims that the advertisement reasonably conveys. Marketers must ensure that all 

reasonable interpretations of their claims are truthful, not misleading, and supported by a 

reasonable basis before they make the claims.11 If a particular consumer group is targeted or likely 

to be affected by the advertisement, the advertisement should be examined from the perspective 

of a reasonable member of that group.12 A claim that is literally true but nonetheless deceives or 

 
7 About Us, L.A. Baby https://www.lababyco.com/about (last visited May 13, 2021). 
8 See 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(2) (“The Commission is hereby empowered and directed to prevent persons, partnerships, 

or corporations . . . from using unfair methods of competition in or affecting commerce and unfair or deceptive acts 
or practices in or affecting commerce.”). 

9  Policy Statement on Deception, appended to Cliffdale Assocs., Inc., 103 FTC 110, 174 (1984), 
https://www.ftc.gov/system/files/documents/public_statements/410531/831014deceptionstmt.pdf (hereinafter “FTC 
Policy Statement on Deception”); see 15 U.S.C. § 45. 

10 Id. 
11 See 16 C.F.R. § 260.2 (citing FTC Policy Statement Regarding Advertising Substantiation, 104 FTC 839 

(1984)). 
12 FTC Policy Statement on Deception, supra note 10, at 3; see also Policy Statement Regarding Advertising 

Substantiation, 104 FTC 839 (Nov. 23, 1984), https://www.ftc.gov/public-statements/1983/03/ftc-policy-statement-
regarding-advertising-substantiation (hereinafter “FTC Policy Statement Regarding Advertising Substantiation”). 
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misleads consumers by its implications can be considered a deceptive practice under the FTC 

Act.13 Moreover, the advertisement should be evaluated as a whole, including its visual elements, 

to account for “crafty advertisers whose deceptive messages were conveyed by means other than, 

or in addition to, spoken words.”14 

Additionally, under Section 5 of the FTC Act, the Commission will find that a practice is 

unfair if the practice causes a substantial “unjustified consumer injury,” which is an injury not 

outweighed by any offsetting consumer or competitive benefits, and that could not reasonably have 

been avoided. 15 U.S.C. § 45(n).15 While unjustified consumer injury alone “can be sufficient to 

warrant a finding of unfairness,” the Commission may also consider whether the practice “violates 

established public policy” and “whether it is unethical or unscrupulous.”16 In the context of product 

endorsements or certifications, there must also be disclosure of unexpected material connections 

related to the product endorsements.17 An “unexpected material connection” is defined as “any 

relationship that might materially affect the weight or credibility” of the certification and that 

would not reasonably be expected by consumers, such as a self-certification or excessive fee.18 

Failure to disclose adequately the material information constitutes a deceptive act or practice, in 

or affecting commerce, in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). 

 
13  See Kraft, Inc. v. F.T.C., 970 F.2d 311, 322 (7th Cir. 1992) (“[E]ven literally true statements can have 

misleading implications.”). 
14 FTC Policy Statement on Deception, supra note 10 (citing Am. Home Products Corp. v. FTC, 695 F.2d 681, 

688 (3d Cir. 1982)). 
15 See also FTC, FTC Policy Statement on Unfairness, 104 F.T.C. 1070–76 (1984), appended to International 

Harvester Co., 104 F.T.C. 949 (1984) (codified at 15 U.S.C. § 45(n)), https://www.ftc.gov/public-
statements/1980/12/ftc-policy-statement-unfairness. 

16 Id. (citing FTC v. Sperry & Hutchinson Co., 405 U.S. 223, 244-45 n.5 (1972)). 
17  See 16 C.F.R. Part 255 (Guides Concerning the Use of Endorsements and Testimonials in Advertising), 

https://www.ftc.gov/sites/default/files/attachments/press-releases/ftc-publishes-final-guides-governing-
endorsements-testimonials/091005revisedendorsementguides.pdf. 

18 In re Moonlight Slumber, LLC, NO. C-4634, 6, 2017 FTC LEXIS 144, *10 (F.T.C. Dec. 11, 2017); see also 16 
C.F.R. § 255.5. 
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IV. FALSE OR MISLEADING CLAIMS

a. Representations at Issue

At issue in this complaint are representations by L.A. Baby in product descriptions and 

advertisements that present its products as containing no toxic materials in its products, that the 

products are organic, or give the impression that its products have received more certifications 

than they have. These marketing strategies target consumers that are concerned about toxic 

substances in baby mattresses and lead consumers to believe that L.A. Baby offers products that 

are much safer and environmentally friendly than they are in reality.  

1. L.A. Baby Misleads Consumers Regarding the Substance and Quality of the 
Materials Used in Its Products. 
 

L.A. Baby claims that its products do not contain any toxic materials whatsoever, that its 

products are “naturally organic,” and that they contain no fire-retardant chemicals. However, L.A. 

Baby appears to lack sufficient testing and evidence to substantiate such claims. Moreover, 

independent tests conducted for the Getting Ready for Baby campaign by the Ecology Center 

revealed a number of substances that indicates that these claims are false. Making an outright false 

claim violates Section 5 of the FTC Act, as well as the Green Guides.  

The Ecology Center, upon direction of Clean & Healthy New York, purchased a Triple 

Zero 2 in 1 Crib Mattress in January 2019. The product was then opened, and components were 

tested at their facility, and then a subset were sent to independent laboratories for further analysis. 

The test methods used included high-definition X-ray fluorescence (HD XRF), fourier-transform 
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infrared spectroscopy (FTIR), chromatography coupled with mass spectrometric methods, and 

particle-induced gamma ray excitation (PIGE).19 

a. L.A. Baby Claims That None of Its Products Contain Toxic Materials 

On the “Frequently Asked Questions” page on its website, L.A. Baby claims that, in 

addition to passing all federal and state standards, that “No toxic materials are used in the making 

of any L.A. Baby product.”20 This is false, as evidenced by tests conducted by the Ecology Center 

that show that there are a variety of substances in L.A. Baby’s mattresses that reasonable 

consumers would not consider non-toxic. For instance, the “Triple Zero 2 in 1 Crib Mattress” 

purchased in January 2019 contained polyethylene terephthalate, antimony, and vinyl. The 

polyurethane foam core also had triphenyl phosphate and tris(4-tert-butylphenyl) phosphate 

consistent with the use of chemical flame retardants.21 Each of these substances has notable effects 

on human health or the environment, many of which are pronounced among infants. The potential 

health effects of each of these substances are detailed in section IV.b.1.a., infra. 

 

Section 260.10(a) of the Green Guides states that “It is deceptive to misrepresent, directly 

or by implication, that a product, package, or service is non-toxic. Non-toxic claims should be 

clearly and prominently qualified to the extent necessary to avoid deception.”22 The Green Guides 

further state that “A non-toxic claim likely conveys that a product, package, or service is non-toxic 

 
19 Crib Mattress Test Methods, Healthy Stuff, https://www.ecocenter.org/healthy-stuff/pages/crib-mattress-test-

methods (last visited May 13, 2021).  
20 FAQ, supra note 2.  
21 Crib Mattress Study, Healthy Stuff, https://www.ecocenter.org/healthy-stuff/reports/crib-mattress-study (last 

visited May 13, 2021).  
22 F.T.C. Green Guides, 16 C.F.R. § 260.10(a).  
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both for humans and for the environment generally. Therefore, marketers making non-toxic claims 

should have competent and reliable scientific evidence that the product, package, or service is non-

toxic for humans and for the environment or should clearly and prominently qualify their claims 

to avoid deception.”23 L.A. Baby is therefore in clear violation of the FTC’s rules and Green 

Guides. 

b. L.A. Baby Advertises Its Products As “Naturally Organic” Despite the 
Products Being Mostly Non-organic and Containing Numerous 
Synthetic Chemicals. 

 
L.A. Baby makes a variety of claims about its products being unqualifiedly “naturally 

organic.” In reality, L.A. Baby’s products contain at least some synthetic materials, including those 

that are suspected to have adverse impacts on human and environmental health. Making these 

claims leads consumers to believe that L.A. Baby’s products are significantly higher quality and 

safer for infants than they are, and exploits consumers who wish to buy the safest products possible 

for their children.  

On its packaging, L.A. Baby claims that its product, “Triple Zone 2 in 1 Crib Mattress,” is 

“naturally organic.” Its website further claims that its “Triple Zone 2 in 1 Breathe-Safe with 

Organic Cotton Layer & Blended Organic Cotton Cover” product “has all the best natural 

features.”24 (See images below). In reality, however, the Triple Zero 2 in 1 mattress set contains a 

variety of synthetic substances that are disallowed under relevant organic standards and would not 

be expected to be found alongside organic components. As noted above, testing facilitated by 

 
23 Id.  
24 Triple Zone 2 in 1 Breathe-Safe with Organic Cotton Layer & Blended Organic Cotton Cover, L.A. Baby, 

https://www.lababyco.com/products/item/289 (last visited May 13, 2021).  
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Clean & Healthy New York reveals that there are a great number of substances in L.A. Baby’s 

products that are not considered organic substances. 

 

 

In addition to the “Naturally Organic” representations, L.A. Baby also makes general 

organic claims on its website by stating, “All L.A. Baby mattresses and pads are proudly made in 

the U.S.A with a variety of quality component parts which could include CertiPur-US® certified 

soy foams, USDA® certified organic cotton, Global Organic Textile Standard (GOTS) certified 

organic cotton, OEKO-TEX® certified organic cotton covers, medical grade covers or natural 
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bamboo covers.”25 This vague language leads consumers to believe that L.A. Baby’s products 

contain a much higher proportion of organic materials than they do. Using the phrase “could 

include” is deceiving, as it is just as likely that a given product includes none of the certified 

organic fabrics or materials that L.A. Baby provides in the list of potential materials. Consumers 

should not have to guess exactly what portion of L.A. Baby’s products contain certified organic 

materials. Suggesting that a product “could” contain certified organic materials allows L.A. Baby 

to imply their presence without proving it and misleads consumers. 

 

c. L.A. Baby Claims That None of Its Mattresses Contain Chemical Fire 
Retardants, But Testing Has Revealed Otherwise. 

 
On its “Frequently Asked Questions” webpage, L.A. Baby claims with regards to its crib 

mattresses that it “is committed to providing a safe and comfortable sleeping environment for 

everyone's little ones! . . .  Do [sic] to the fact that Rayon is inherently fire resistant and that 

polyester is a low melt component, no chemicals are needed to meet or exceed all federal and or 

state flammability standards!”26 Testing initiated by Clean & Healthy New York revealed that the 

“Triple Zero 2 in 1 Crib Mattress” contained triphenyl phosphate and tris(4-tert-butylphenyl) 

 
25 About Us, L.A. Baby, https://www.lababyco.com/about (last visited May 13, 2021) (emphasis added). 
26 FAQ, supra note 2.  
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phosphate, two common fire-resistant chemicals, indicating that L.A. Baby’s representations are 

false.   

2. L.A. Baby Gives the Impression that its Products Have More Certifications 
Than They Do. 

 
L.A. Baby’s website makes additional claims about its products in the same visual form as 

third-party certifications it has received and positions as if these representations were also third-

party certifications. 27 This strategy leads consumers to believe that each of the claims within the 

“badges” is a legitimate, verified, third-party certification. In fact, next to L.A. Baby’s CertiPUR-

US certification, L.A. Baby makes a variety of claims in this manner, including “Organic,” “Dust 

Mite Proof,” and “Anti-Microbial” but with “No Chemical[s] Added.”28 This implies to consumers 

that L.A. Baby’s mattresses have undergone independent testing to verify the company’s various 

representations.  

 In fact, the distinction of anti-microbial properties is largely meaningless; the U.S. Centers 

for Disease Control have concluded that there is no evidence that antimicrobials in products or on 

surfaces reduce disease.29 Marketing a product as somehow safer because of its antimicrobial 

contents is in itself misleading, and presenting this trait in the visual form of a certification “badge” 

leads consumers to believe that it is verified by an official certification process. In this case, 

claiming the product has antimicrobial qualities without any chemicals added is doubly misleading 

because tests results have shown that the chemicals that have likely been applied to the products 

 
27 Triple Zone 2 in 1 Soy Foam with Blended Organic Cotton Cover, L.A. Baby, 

https://www.lababyco.com/products/item/292 (last visited May 13, 2021) 
28 Id. 
29 Banning use of antimicrobial agents for infection control, Kaiser Permanente (Dec. 11, 2015), 

https://about.kaiserpermanente.org/total-health/health-topics/kaiser-permanente-rejects-antimicrobials-for-infection-
control. 
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are as concerning to parents as antimicrobial agents L.A. Baby advertises that it avoids. This 

advertising strategy suggests to consumers that L.A. Baby’s products have passed a great number 

of verified certification processes when they in fact have not.  

 

 

 

Additionally, the Organic seal shown above, used in some product images for products including 

the Triple Zero 2 in 1 Soy Foam with Blended Organic Cotton Cover product, is not a seal for any 

certification program, and falsely implies compliance with GOTS organic certification and/or 

OEKO-TEX certification. 

b. The Reality of L.A. Baby’s Practices 

1. L.A. Baby’s Products Do Not Match Its Descriptions 

Through statements on its website, product packaging, and advertisements, L.A. Baby 

claims that its crib mattresses are unqualifiedly non-toxic, made of organic materials, and free of 

fire-retardant chemicals. Unfortunately, these representations are either false, or overstatements of 
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the truth. Additionally, L.A. Baby’s representations regarding the certifications it has received also 

tend to mislead consumers as to the benefits and quality of its products.    

a. L.A. Baby’s Representations that Its Products Are Unqualifiedly Non-
Toxic are False, Overstated, and/or Unsubstantiated. 
 

L.A. Baby states that “No toxic materials are used in the making of any L.A. Baby product” 

without qualification or further disclosure.30  However, Clean & Healthy New York’s testing 

revealed that a sample L.A. Baby mattress included a flame-retardant barrier that contained 

polyethylene terephthalate, antimony, and vinyl. The components of the foam core of the sample 

mattress showed levels of triphenyl phosphate and tris(4-tert- butylphenyl phosphate) consistent 

with the use of chemical flame retardants. These substances are not unqualifiedly “non-toxic.”  

Polyethylene terephthalate (“PET”) is one of the most common plastics, known for its 

durability. This durability causes PET to not readily break down in the environment. The effects 

on the environment due to this plastic pollution have been well-documented.31 In addition to its 

resistance to biodegradation, the use of PET also poses toxicity risks. Antimony compounds 

are commonly used as a catalyst in the production of PET.32 As is the case here, the antimony may 

remain in the PET even after the PET has been used in the production of the mattress.33 The most 

common antimony compound used in the production of PET, antimony trioxide, is classified 

as possibly carcinogenic according to the International Agency for Research on Cancer.34 

 
30 FAQ, supra note 2 
31 Laura Parker, We Made Plastic. We Depend on It. Now We're Drowning in It, National Geographic (Jun. 

2018), https://www.nationalgeographic.com/magazine/article/plastic-planet-waste-pollution-trash-crisis. 
32 Montserrat Filella, Antimony and PET bottles: Checking facts, 29 Biomedical and Environmental Sciences 

305 (July 19, 2020), https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0045653520319275. 
33 Id. 
34 Antimony Trioxide and Antimony Trisulfide, IARC Monographs Volume 47, 302 (June 2018), 

https://monographs.iarc.who.int/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/mono47-16.pdf. 
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Vinyl, or polyvinyl chloride (“PVC”), is a common plastic that is used as a waterproof 

cover material in crib mattresses. When formed, PVC is a rigid plastic that requires many additives, 

including bisphenol A and plasticizers, in order to be used in crib mattresses. Plasticizers are 

substances that are added to a material to increase its flexibility. The Consumer Product Safety 

Improvement Act of 2008 banned a class of plasticizers called phthalates from children’s toys and 

products. While manufacturers have found substitutes for phthalates, the long-term effects of these 

materials are not well-studied and contain many of the same qualities that proved to make 

phthalates toxic. For example, like phthalates, these alternatives are not chemically bound to the 

plastic they are added to. Therefore, the substances may migrate out and adversely affect the 

environment and human health. The major health concerns include respiratory illnesses such as 

asthma as well as skin and eye irritation. The environmental effects of these plasticizers may also 

include adverse effects on aquatic life such as fish, algae, and crustaceans. In addition, several 

commonly-used plasticizers do not easily biodegrade and accumulate in the environment.35 

Triphenyl phosphate is a plasticizer and fire retardant. Once considered an 

environmentally-friendly alternative for known toxic chemicals, growing evidence identifies that 

triphenyl phosphate is also toxic. Animal studies indicate it is an endocrine disruptor, that it can 

trigger obesity by causing immature bone cells to transform into fat, and may be linked to fertility 

 
35 Phthalate Risks and Alternative, Clark School of Engineering Center For Advanced Life Cycle Engineering, 

https://calce.umd.edu/phthalate-risks-and-alternatives (last visited May 13, 2021).  
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problems. 36  In light of this growing evidence of its toxicity, the EPA designated triphenyl 

phosphate as a high-priority substance for risk re-evaluation.37  

None of these substances are unqualifiedly non-toxic. Furthermore, given that many of 

these substances show evidence of bioaccumulation and long-term health effects, a reasonable 

basis to call these substances unqualifiedly non-toxic likely cannot be determined at this time. By 

stating that its crib mattress are unqualifiedly non-toxic, L.A. Baby violates § 260.10(a) of the 

Green Guides, which states “It is deceptive to misrepresent, directly or by implication, that a 

product, package, or service is non-toxic. Non-toxic claims should be clearly and prominently 

qualified to the extent necessary to avoid deception.” Additionally, because many of the substances 

contained in L.A. Baby’s crib mattress also cause harm to the environment and wildlife, 

§ 260.10(b) of the Green Guides also elucidates L.A. Baby’s deception:  

A non-toxic claim likely conveys that a product, package, or service is non-toxic 
both for humans and for the environment generally. Therefore, marketers making 
non-toxic claims should have competent and reliable scientific evidence that the 
product, package, or service is non-toxic for humans and for the environment or 
should clearly and prominently qualify their claims to avoid deception. 
 
The representations outlined in this complaint reveal that L.A. Baby has indeed not been 

honest; instead, the company has attempted to convince the public that its crib mattresses contain 

zero substances that may be toxic in any way.    

 
b. L.A. Baby’s Misleads Consumers By Stating That Its Products Are 

“Naturally Organic” And Making General Organic Claims. 
 

 
36 Michael Hawthorne, Triphenyl phosphate, found in 'eco-friendly' nail polish, spurs worries, Chicago Tribune 

(Oct. 23, 2015, 5:01 am), https://www.chicagotribune.com/investigations/ct-nail-polish-toxic-chemical-20151023-
story.html.  

37 Draft Scope of the Risk Evaluation for Triphenyl Phosphate, EPA (Apr. 2020), 
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2020-04/documents/casrn-115-86-
6_phosphoric_acid_triphenyl_ester_tpp_draft_scope.pdf.  
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L.A. Baby states that its crib mattress are unqualifiedly “organic” “naturally organic” and 

states that its products may include components that are USDA® certified organic cotton, Global 

Organic Textile Standard (GOTS) certified organic cotton, and OEKO-TEX® certified organic 

cotton covers. Its website also includes the logo for the GOTS standard. Clean & Health New York 

does not assert that no components in any of L.A. Baby’s crib mattress are certified organic. 

However, the way that L.A. Baby communicates this information to consumers is deceptive in two 

ways:  

First, by stating that any of its products could include certified organic components, and 

by using the GOTS emblem and mentioning the USDA® certified organic and OEKO-TEX® 

certified organic standards, L.A. Baby’s marketing tends to mislead consumers into believing that 

the crib mattresses contain more organic fibers than they do. For example, a consumer seeing the 

GOTS emblem and these representations that the L.A. Baby products may contain these organic 

components cannot know which components of which products this representation refers to. These 

generalized organic claims violate § 260.3(b) of the Green Guides, which states, “Unless it is clear 

from the context, an environmental marketing claim should specify whether it refers to the product, 

the product’s packaging, a service, or just to a portion of the product, package, or service. . . .” 

Likewise, the general “organic” and “naturally organic” representations made prominently on the 

labeling and marketing images for products like the “Soy Foam with Blended Organic Cotton 

Cover” do not state that the “Naturally Organic” representation only applies to the blended organic 

cover.  Further, “blended organic cotton cover” implies that the organic cotton is mixed 

(“blended”) with another unknown material. Other products on L.A. Baby’s website, like the 

“Triple Zone 2 in 1 Soy Foam with Natural Bamboo Cover” also use images that include the 
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“Naturally Organic” representation, but do not specify which, if any, components of the product 

are organic.38  

Second, by stating that the covers of certain models of its mattresses are organic, L.A. 

Baby’s marketing signals to consumers that those components do not contain substances that are 

disallowed under the National Organic Program (the “NOP”). Clean & Healthy New York does 

not dispute this. However, consumers are likely to believe that this is an implicit “free of” claim. 

This is a reasonable interpretation of this representation. Afterall, what good is an organic cotton 

cover if disallowed substances can easily pass though the cover because of its breathability, another 

marketing representation used on products like the “Triple Zone 2 in 1 Breathe-Safe with Organic 

Cotton Layer & Blended Organic Cotton Cover” product?   

As stated above, the L.A. Baby crib mattress contain several non-natural and potentially 

harmful substances that are disallowed under the NOP. Therefore, L.A. Baby’s general organic 

representations and “naturally organic” representations violate § 260.9(b) of the Green Guides, 

which states, “A truthful claim that a product, package, or service is free of, or does not contain or 

use, a substance may nevertheless be deceptive if: (1) the product, package, or service contains or 

uses substances that pose the same or similar environmental risks as the substance that is not 

present”. In this case, Example 1 of § 260.9 is instructive:  

A package of t-shirts is labeled “Shirts made with a chlorine-free bleaching 
process.” The shirts, however, are bleached with a process that releases a reduced, 
but still significant, amount of the same harmful byproducts associated with 
chlorine bleaching. The claim overstates the product’s benefits because reasonable 
consumers likely would interpret it to mean that the product’s manufacture does 
not cause any of the environmental risks posed by chlorine bleaching. A 

 
38 Another, although much smaller, image on the product website identifies that the cotton in this product is 

organic. However, nowhere on that webpage identifies which, if any, parts of the mattress are made of cotton,  
Triple Zone 2 in 1 Soy Foam with Natural Bamboo Cover, L.A. Baby, https://www.lababyco.com/products/item/291 
(last visited May 13, 2021).  
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substantiated claim, however, that the shirts were “bleached with a process that 
releases 50% less of the harmful byproducts associated with chlorine bleaching” 
would not be deceptive. 
 

Similarly, when purchasing a crib mattress, it may be useful for many consumers to know that the 

top layer of the mattress is organic and that it may reduce some of the perceived risk associated 

with synthetic, industrial, or agricultural chemicals. But L.A. Baby fails to disclose any of the 

chemicals revealed through testing that would allow consumers to place this representation in 

proper context. Therefore, L.A. Baby’s organic representations are misleading.   

c. L.A. Baby’s Representation that its Products Do Not Contain Fire 
Retardants Is False. 
 

L.A. Baby states, “In order to provide a non-toxic and more chemical free fire barrier, as a 

fire barrier is required by law, we use materials that are inherently fire resistant. . . . Do [sic] to the 

fact that Rayon is inherently fire resistant and that polyester is a low melt component, no chemicals 

are needed to meet or exceed all federal and or state flammability standards!” Testing initiated by 

Clean & Healthy New York revealed that the foam core of the Triple Zone 2-in-1 Soy Foam 

mattress contained triphenyl phosphate and tris(4-tert- butylphenyl) phosphate,39 common fire 

retardants. Therefore, L.A. Baby violates § 260.9(a) of the Green Guides, which states, “It is 

deceptive to misrepresent, directly or by implication, that a product, package, or service is free of, 

or does not contain or use, a substance. Such claims should be clearly and prominently qualified 

to the extent necessary to avoid deception.” 

2. L.A. Baby’s Website Uses Logos and Emblems That Tend to Mislead 
Consumers into Believing It Has Received More Certifications Than It Has.  

 

 
39 The testing also revealed levels of bromine and chlorine that may be consistent with the use of halogenated 

fire retardants, but not at levels high enough to confirm the deliberate use of fire retardants. 
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L.A. Baby’s website makes additional claims that its products are, among others, “Dust 

Mite Proof,” and “Anti-Microbial.” These representations are presented to consumers in the same 

visual form as third-party certifications typically are. In fact, on the webpage for its “Triple Zone 

2 in 1 Soy Foam with Blended Organic Cotton Cover” the only legitimate third-party certification 

seal, CertiPUR-US, is listed third after seals that do not have any related third-party certification.   

By designing the elements of its website to imply it has more certifications than it has, L.A. 

Baby violates § 260.6(a) of the Green Guides, which states that “It is deceptive to misrepresent, 

directly or by implication, that a product, package, or service has been endorsed or certified by an 

independent third party.” 

V. ANALYSIS UNDER THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION ACT 

For a representation to be unlawfully deceptive under Section 5 of the FTC Act, it must be 

both “material” and “deceptive.”40 As described below, L.A. Baby’s representations about its 

products satisfy both elements.  

a. L.A. Baby’s Representations Are Likely to Mislead  

 Many consumers would find L.A. Baby’s marketing and advertising representations 

misleading if they knew the true nature of its products. As a threshold matter, a company is 

responsible for all reasonable interpretations of its advertisements, so it does not matter that the 

company’s representations may convey differing meanings to different consumers. 41  “To be 

considered reasonable, the interpretation or reaction does not have to be the only one.”42 Instead, 

“[w]hen a seller’s representation conveys more than one meaning to reasonable consumers, one of 

 
40 FTC Policy Statement on Deception, supra note 10. 
41 See id. at 2-3.  
42 Id. at 3. 
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which is false, the seller is liable for the misleading interpretation.”43 When a particular consumer 

group is targeted or likely to be affected by the advertisement, the advertisement should be 

examined from the perspective of a reasonable member of that group.44  

 Here, L.A. Baby’s false representations target consumers most likely to be misled: 

expectant parents who want to buy the best and safest products for their children, maintain a safe 

home and environment more broadly, and who look to advertising to identify companies that sell 

products that comport with those values. Many such consumers, and the general public more 

broadly, will reasonably interpret L.A. Baby’s representations as evidence that the products are 

tested and certified to be unqualifiedly safe and free of any substances that consumers may find 

concerning, when in fact these qualities are greatly overstated. Therefore, L.A. Baby’s 

representations are unlawfully deceptive in violation of the FTC Act.   

b. L.A. Baby’s Representations Are Material 

Materiality is established when a representation “is likely to affect the consumer’s conduct 

or decision with regard to a product or service.”45 Here, L.A. Baby targets consumers who are 

most likely to alter their behavior based on their desire to purchase safer and environmentally 

friendly products for their children. Consumers rely upon the representations described in the prior 

sections to inform their purchasing decisions, and make those decisions based on the 

representations’ promise that the products will allow them to avoid unnecessary chemicals in 

everyday products. In fact, FTC Commissioner Rohit Chopra recently issued the following 

 
43 Id.  
44 Id.  
45 Id. 
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statement acknowledging the materiality of sustainability claims to consumers and the importance 

of preserving the integrity of the market for sustainable products: 

I commend Commission staff for investigating fraudulent greenwashing…. This 
conduct distorted competition for organic products, inflicting harm on honest 
producers…. [T]he Commission should commit itself to exercising its full authority 
to protect consumers and honest businesses.46  
 
Consumers frequently rely on the information provided on product labels, advertisements, 

and on companies’ websites when making the decision to purchase goods. Furthermore, reasonable 

consumers lack the information and scientific knowledge necessary to ascertain the true nature of 

L.A. Baby’s Products. Therefore, it is unquestionable that consumers are misled and deceived by 

L.A. Baby’s representations, believing that L.A. Baby’s products are non-toxic, organic, and made 

without any chemicals they may wish to avoid.  

L.A. Baby made false, misleading, and deceptive representations and omissions knowing 

that consumers would rely upon these representations and omissions in making their purchases. In 

making the false, misleading, and deceptive representations and omissions at issue, L.A. Baby also 

knew and intended that consumers would seek out products that were represented as being safer 

and more environmentally friendly or, at least, harmless to the environment. The falsely marketed 

products have allowed L.A. Baby to profit enormously from consumers who wish to buy children’s 

products that are organic and free of unnecessary chemicals such as flame retardants.   

VI. RELIEF REQUESTED  

The actions described above constitute unlawful conduct, unfair methods of competition, 

and unfair and deceptive practices under the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 41 et seq.  

Accordingly, the undersigned respectfully requests that the Commission:  

 
46 FTC, Statement of Commissioner Rohit Chopra, supra note 4. 
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1. Require L.A. Baby to remove the misleading marketing claims;  

2. Enjoin L.A. Baby from making such misleading statements in the future;  

3. Require L.A. Baby to disseminate corrective statements in all media in which the 

misleading statements were previously disseminated; and  

4. Impose all other penalties as are just and proper.  

Respectfully submitted May 13, 2021, 
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